RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

May 04, 2016, 4:48 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93019-) (Court of Appeals No. 47681-9-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

 WASHINGTON TRUCKING ASSOCIATIONS, a Washington non-profit corporation; EAGLE SYSTEMS, INC., a Washington corporation; GORDON TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; HANEY TRUCK LINE, INC., a Washington corporation; JASPER TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; PSFL LEASING, INC., a Washington corporation; and SYSTEM-TWT TRANSPORTATION d/b/a SYSTEM-TWT, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents,

v.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners, Employment Security Department and its named current and former employees, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Department seeks review of the February 9, 2016, published opinion of the Court of Appeals, which affirmed in part and reversed in part the superior court's dismissal of the plaintiffs' complaint for failure to state a claim for which relief could be granted, *Wash. Trucking Ass'ns, et al. v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, et al.*, No. 47681-9-II, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 9, 2016), and the April 4, 2016, order denying the Department's motion for reconsideration. Copies of the opinion and order are appended.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the superior court properly dismiss the 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims?

1.1 Does the comity doctrine act as a complete bar to the plaintiffs' § 1983 claims because the Employment Security Act and Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provide adequate state law remedies for challenging the tax audits and assessments?

1.2 Does plaintiff Washington Trucking Associations (WTA) lack associational standing to make a § 1983 claim based on members' claims, which are barred by the comity doctrine?

- 2. Did the superior court properly dismiss the tortious interference claims?
 - 2.1 Do the plaintiffs' claims challenge the justness or

correctness of unemployment tax assessments and, hence, fall within the Employment Security Act's exclusive remedy provision, RCW 50.32.180?

2.2 As a matter of law, can enforcement of the Employment Security Act, which affects worker classification for purposes of only the Act, be the basis for a claim of tortious interference with a contractual relationship?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At various times in 2010, the Department issued tax assessments to the plaintiff trucking carriers concluding they were responsible for paying unemployment taxes for truck drivers who own and operate their own trucks under lease agreements with the carriers. CP 214-31. The carriers claimed these "owner-operators" were independent contractors not covered by the Employment Security Act, Title 50 RCW. *Id.* The carriers appealed the tax assessments as provided in the Act and the APA. CP 221, 223; RCW 50.32.030; RCW 34.05.570. The plaintiff WTA was not audited or issued tax assessments. CP 214-31.

At the administrative hearings, four carriers moved for summary judgment, arguing that the owner-operators were independent contractors or otherwise excepted from coverage, that federal law preempts the Employment Security Act with respect to their owner-operators, and that the audits were predetermined and conducted by auditors who did not follow audit standards; they asked that the assessments be dismissed. CP 285-97.

An Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) denied the carriers' motions

and concluded the owner-operators were in employment of the carriers at least for their driving services, but the value of leased equipment should not be taxed. CP 291-92.¹ The ALJ also rejected the carriers' preemption argument based on *Western Ports Transportation, Inc. v. Employment Security Department*, 110 Wn. App. 440, 41 P.3d 510 (2002) (owner-operator was in employment of motor carrier for unemployment insurance purposes, and federal transportation law does not preempt Employment Security Act). CP 294. Addressing the claims of faulty audits, the ALJ declined to dismiss the assessments and recognized that the challenges to the audits would be addressed at hearings on the merits. CP 295.²

While these administrative proceedings were pending, the plaintiffs filed this lawsuit against the Department and six of its former and current employees (Department). The complaint alleged that the tax assessments were based on biased, pre-determined, and politicallymotivated audits. CP 214-31. The complaint challenged the Department's

¹ In an order of remand entered soon after the denial of summary judgment, the ALJ concluded there might be a basis to reconsider amounts of the assessment attributable to equipment rental as opposed to driving services, to owner-operators who performed no services in Washington, and to incorporated entities where all personal services were performed only by corporate officers. But for each of these areas, the ALJ placed the burden on the carriers to provide additional information and evidence to the Department for its consideration. CP 300-01.

² After this, the administrative hearings became delayed due to the carriers' attempt to enforce an alleged settlement agreement that eventually resulted in a remand for hearing. CP 336-406; *Eagle Sys., Inc. v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 181 Wn. App. 455, 457, 326 P.3d 764 (2014) (reversing on personal jurisdiction grounds an order enforcing a purported settlement agreement).

position underlying the assessments that the owner-operators are in the carriers' "employment" under the Employment Security Act. CP 214-31. As in the administrative proceeding, the complaint further alleged the assessments were preempted by federal law. CP 225-26.

The Department moved to dismiss the complaint under CR 12. CP 252-78. The superior court granted the motion. CP 690-93. The plaintiffs appealed the dismissal of: (1) their federal civil rights claims under § 1983 against individual defendants for allegedly violating the carriers' constitutional due process, equal protection, Contract Clause, and Commerce Clause rights; and (2) their state common law claim for tortious interference with the carriers' contractual and business relationships with their owner-operators. They abandoned other claims.³

The Court of Appeals held that the WTA did not have individual standing for the § 1983 and tortious interference claims. *Wash. Trucking Ass'ns*, slip op. at 11, 12. It further held that the WTA did not have associational standing to assert a tortious interference claim. But the court held that whether WTA has associational standing to assert a § 1983 claim "cannot be determined based on the complaint allegations." *Id.* at 14.

The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's dismissal of the carriers' § 1983 claims. The court held that the comity doctrine barred the

³ Plaintiffs sought direct review by this Court, which was denied. CP 694-700; Case No. 90584-3.

§ 1983 claims only "to the extent that WTA and the Carriers seek damages based on the amounts of the assessments, but not to the extent that they seek damages independent of the assessment amounts." *Id.* at 15.

With respect to the tortious interference with contractual relationship claim, the Court of Appeals held that the exclusive remedy provision in the Employment Security Act and the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies barred that claim only "to the extent that the claim is based on an allegation that the reclassification of owner/operators as employees was improper." *Id.* at 25. The court stated that "no administrative remedy is available to the extent that the claim is based on an improper purpose or used improper means in making that reclassification." *Id.* at 28-29. The Department moved for reconsideration, which the court denied.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the Court of Appeals' decision—the first Washington case to address the comity doctrine as it pertains to § 1983 suits against state tax officials misapplies the doctrine and undermines its purpose, in conflict with United States Supreme Court precedent. Further, the Court of Appeals' ruling improperly allows taxpayers to circumvent administrative and judicial remedies to challenge agency action and opens the floodgates to

tortious interference claims alleging the ill intent of government employees. This will chill agencies from carrying out important duties.

A. The Comity Doctrine Bars Plaintiffs' § 1983 Claims Because the APA Provides an Adequate State Law Remedy

"States are afforded great flexibility in satisfying the requirements of due process in the field of taxation." Nat'l Private Truck Council, Inc. v. Okla. Tax Comm'n, 515 U.S. 582, 587, 115 S. Ct. 2351, 132 L. Ed. 2d 509 (1995). Accordingly, claims under § 1983 for injunctive, declaratory, or damages relief may not be brought against state tax officials in federal or state courts when there is an adequate state law remedy. Id. at 584-86 (affirming dismissal of § 1983 suit in state court for declaratory and injunctive relief brought by trucking carriers against state tax officials, noting, "We have long recognized that principles of federalism and comity generally counsel that courts should adopt a hands-off approach with respect to state tax administration"); Fair Assessment in Real Estate Ass'n, Inc. v. McNary, 454 U.S. 100, 116, 102 S. Ct. 177, 70 L. Ed. 2d 271 (1981) (barring § 1983 damage award against state tax officials in federal courts when state law provides an adequate remedy). Frameworks where parties may raise federal constitutional objections-like under the APAare adequate. California v. Grace Brethren Church, 457 U.S. 393, 413-17, 102 S. Ct. 2498, 73 L. Ed. 2d 93 (1982).

The limit on § 1983 claims has been applied in the unemployment tax arena. *Hawaiian Telephone Co. v. State Dep't of Labor & Indus. Relations*, 691 F.2d 905, 909-11 (9th Cir. 1982) (citing the holding in *Fair Assessment* that comity principles bar the taxpayers' § 1983 damages actions challenging state taxation on due process and equal protection grounds); *Grace Brethren Church*, 457 U.S. at 413 (First Amendment challenge to state unemployment taxes).

The Court of Appeals' opinion drew the wrong line. It correctly recognizes that § 1983 suits may not be brought against state tax officials when the state law remedy allows taxpayers to raise their constitutional objections to the tax and its administration, "regardless of the type of relief sought." *See* Slip op. at 17-19. The opinion also correctly observes, "For a state remedy to be adequate, 'it need not necessarily be 'the best remedy available or even equal to or better than the remedy which might be available in the federal courts."" Slip op. at 20 (citing *Mandel v. Hutchinson*, 494 F.2d 364, 367 (9th Cir. 1974)). But the Court of Appeals created a conflict when it compared the substantive types of relief available to the plaintiffs under § 1983 to the relief available under the APA. Slip op. at 24 (noting that the APA permits a tax refund but not lost income or damages for disruption of relationships, reasonable attorney fees, or punitive damages).

Adequacy of a remedy under comity is not about the type or measure of relief available; comity bars additional relief if there is a procedure for judicial determination of constitutional objections. Rosewell v. LaSalle Nat'l Bank, 450 U.S. 503, 512, 101 S. Ct. 1221, 67 L. Ed. 2d 464 (1981) (leading case on adequacy of state law remedies, holding that Tax Injunction Act, on which the comity doctrine is based, requires only "a state-court remedy that meets certain minimal procedural criteria"); Fair Assessment, 454 U.S. at 116 n.8 (standards under the Tax Injunction Act and comity for assessing adequacy of the state law remedy are the same). It is sufficient if the state law remedy provides a "full hearing and judicial determination" at which the taxpayer may raise federal constitutional objections to the tax. Rosewell, 450 U.S. at 514; Grace Brethren Church, 457 U.S. at 413-17. Further, in actions against state tax officials, courts construe the exception to comity's bar narrowly. See Nat'l Private Truck, 515 U.S. at 589-90 (explaining, based on Fair Assessment, 454 U.S. at 115-16, that "the Tax Injunction Act may be understood as but a partial codification of the federal reluctance to interfere with state taxation," and § 1983 claims against state tax officials are thus narrow).

Other courts throughout the nation have recognized that comity measures the adequacy of the state remedy by procedural, not substantive, criteria.⁴ The Department is not aware of any other court that has parsed the types of available relief. For example, in *Francis v. City of Columbus*, property owners challenged a city's special tax assessment on due process and equal protection grounds, seeking injunctive, declaratory, and damages relief, and attorney fees, under § 1983. 676 N.W.2d 346, 349 (Neb. 2004). The claims sought distinct remedies based on additional facts from their tax refund claims brought under state law. *Id.* at 353. In assessing the adequacy of appeal remedies from the tax assessments, the court found the taxpayers had a "full hearing and judicial determination" at which they could raise any and all constitutional objections to the tax and dismissed the § 1983 claims. *Id.* (quoting *Rosewell*, 450 U.S. at 515).

In General Motors Corp. v. City of Linden, an automobile company sued a city and its tax assessor and appraiser under § 1983, claiming they violated due process by issuing an inflated assessment in

⁴ See, e.g., Hogan v. Musolf, 471 N.W.2d 216, 223 (Wis. 1991) ("We do not agree with the plaintiffs' contention that the remedy is inadequate because they cannot obtain the same relief under the state remedies that are available under a sec. 1983 action."); Carrier Corp. v. Perez, 677 F.2d 162, 165-66 (1st Cir. 1982) ("A state remedy is adequate if it meets 'certain minimal procedural criteria,' which include an opportunity to raise the desired legal objections with the eventual possibility of Supreme Court review of that claim."); Kerr v. Waddell, 916 P.2d 1173, 1180 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1996); Kowenhoven v. County of Allegheny, 901 A.2d 1003, 1014 (Pa. 2006) ("Therefore, the specific manner in which the taxpayer obtains relief—whether through administrative exhaustion or through an action in equity—is of little federal concern; what matters is that the litigant have some reasonable means within the state court system to obtain redress for a violation of federal rights." (citing Rosewell)), and 1015 n.13 (noting that if plaintiffs "prevail on the merits and are unable to secure an award of fees under state law as they might have been able to do under Section 1988(b), 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b), this alone would not render their remedy inadequate.").

retaliation for the company's appeals from prior assessments. 671 A.2d 560, 561 (N.J. 1996), *cert. denied*, 519 U.S. 816 (1996). The suit sought compensatory and punitive damages and attorney fees. *Id.* at 562. The court stated:

In brief, the [United States Supreme] Court focused not on the nature of the relief requested, but on the possible interference of any relief in the administration of the state tax system. Thus, neither state nor federal courts may award damages or grant either injunctive or declaratory relief when a state provides an adequate remedy. To be adequate, a state remedy need only satisfy "minimal *procedural* criteria." [quoting *Rosewell*, 450 U.S. at 512]

Id. at 565-66. The court specifically rejected the company's assertion that because it sought compensatory and punitive damages instead of a refund or injunction, its claim should be preserved. *Id.* at 565.

After the Supreme Court's 1995 decision in *National Private Truck Council, Inc. v. Oklahoma Tax Commission*, at least 19 states' courts have held, based on the comity doctrine, that § 1983 suits for injunctive, declaratory, *or damages* relief cannot be brought in state courts against state tax officials when there is an adequate state law remedy, which includes frameworks like the APA.^{5, 6} Washington now stands alone

⁵ Sharp v. Direct Res. for Print, Inc., 910 S.W.2d 535, 541 (Tex. App. 1995); Gen. Motors Corp., 671 A.2d at 564-65 [N.J. 1996]; Buckley Powder Co. v. Colo., 924 P.2d 1133 (Colo. App. 1996) (§ 1983 state tax suit by trucking company dismissed), rev'd on other grounds, 945 P.2d 841 (Colo. 1997); Kerr, 916 P.2d at 1179 [Ariz. Ct. App. 1996]; PPG Indus., Inc. v. Tracy, 659 N.E.2d 1250, 1252 (Ohio 1996) (per curiam); State v. Sproles, 672 N.E.2d 1353, 1361 (Ind. 1996); New England Legal Found. v. City

in finding a state law remedy inadequate because it does not afford the same type of relief as § 1983. Slip op. at 23-24.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding the state law remedy is adequate only "for damages for the amount of the assessment." Slip op. at 23-24. This flawed reasoning reduces the comity doctrine to precluding recovery of a tax refund twice—i.e., through a refund in an administrative appeal and a separate damage recovery in a § 1983 suit. This misreads the

⁶ Only when a taxing entity has continued to collect a tax that a court has declared unconstitutional, and when a state remedy did not even allow for a tax refund because the government was insolvent, has a § 1983 suit been permitted to go forward as not providing a plain remedy. *Patel v. City of San Bernardino*, 310 F.3d 1138, 1141-42 (9th Cir. 2002); *Wal-Mart Puerto Rico, Inc. v. Juan C. Zaragoza-Gomez*, _ F. Supp. 3d _, 2016 WL 1183091 at *37-38 (U.S.D.C., D. Puerto Rico, March 28, 2016). Even in *Patel*, the state remedy was unclear and, hence, inadequate only "[t]o the extent that the city refused to follow" the state court's decision after it became final; the court permitted the plaintiffs to pursue § 1983 remedies that accrued "after the state courts overturned the tax." 310 F.3d at 1142. This situation is not present here.

Plaintiffs argued below that the assessments were declared unlawful, but this is not so. The ALJ concluded there might be a basis to reconsider some aspects of the assessments, but placed the burden on the carriers to produce evidence justifying reconsideration. CP 299-302. No court has declared the Department's actions unconstitutional. Like the defendants in *Lowe v. Washoe County*, "Defendants here did not continue to collect a tax that a state court previously had declared invalid. Consequently, Plaintiffs have not demonstrated that the state court remedy in this case is uncertain and therefore not 'plain.'" 627 F.3d 1151, 1157 (9th Cir. 2010).

of Boston, 670 N.E.2d 152, 160-61 (Mass. 1996); Murtagh v. County of Berks, 715 A.2d 548 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1998); Kerns v. Dukes, 707 A.2d 363, 368 n.6 (Del. 1998), overruled on other grounds by Scion Breckenridge Managing Member, LLC v. ASB Allegiance Real Estate Fund, 68 A.3d 665 (Del. 2013); Camps Newfound/Owatonna Corp. v. Town of Harrison, 705 A.2d 1109, 1111 (Me. 1998); Gen. Motors Corp. v. City & County of San Francisco, 69 Cal. App. 4th 448, 458 (1999); Ramah Navajo School Bd., Inc. v. New Mexico Taxation and Revenue Dep't, 977 P.2d 1021, 1025-26 (N.M. Ct. App. 1999); Glynn County Bd. of Tax Assessors v. Haller, 543 S.E.2d 699, 701 (Ga. 2001); Francis, 676 N.W.2d at 351-52 [Neb. 2004]; By Lo Oil Co. v. Dep't of Treas., 703 N.W.2d 822, 832 (Mich. App. 2005); Kowenhoven, 901 A.2d at 1014 [Pa. 2006]; Panhandle Producers & Royalty Owners Ass'n v. Okla. Tax Comm'n, 162 P.3d 960, 964 n.6 (Okla. Civ. App. 2007); J.P. Alexandre, LLC v. Egbuna, 49 A.3d 222, 227-29 (Conn. App. Ct. 2012); Higdon v. State, 404 S.W.3d 478, 481 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2013); Commonwealth Brands, Inc. v. Morgan, 110 So.3d 752, 763 (Miss. 2013).

comity limit on § 1983 claims. Comity bars recovery of *any* relief in addition to adequate state law remedies. *Kerr*, 916 P.2d at 1179 ("Where an adequate remedy exists under state law, no relief of any kind is available in a state court action brought under § 1983 challenging the assessment or collection of state taxes.").

The Washington administrative and judicial remedies cannot be distinguished from the remedies found to be adequate by the United States Supreme Court in *Rosewell v. LaSalle Nat'l Bank*, 450 U.S. at 508-09, and *California v. Grace Brethren Church*, 457 U.S. at 415. There and here, taxpayers may seek review from an order and notice of assessment from the agency, and then from the courts, where the taxpayers may raise constitutional objections. RCW 34.05.570(3); RCW 50.32.030, .050, .070, .080, .090, .120; WAC 192-04-060(1), -170; RCW 34.05.510, .570.

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