RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 16, 2016, 1:08 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93079-1 (Court of Appeals No. 47681-9-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

 WASHINGTON TRUCKING ASSOCIATIONS, a Washington non-profit corporation; EAGLE SYSTEMS, INC., a Washington corporation; GORDON TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; HANEY TRUCK LINE, INC., a Washington corporation; JASPER TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; PSFL LEASING, INC., a Washington corporation; and SYSTEM-TWT TRANSPORTATION d/b/a SYSTEM-TWT, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents,

v.

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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. <u>Standards governing acceptance of review</u>.

ESD seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). It pays scant attention, however, to the standards applicable to those provisions. Under subsection (3), it must show a significant question of constitutional law. Under subsection (4), it must show an issue of substantial public interest.

While requesting this relief, ESD fails to explain why it opposed this Court's direct review. WTA initially appealed directly to this Court. In its opposition, ESD argued that because the lawsuit "impacts only these specific taxpayer plaintiffs, this case does not present 'an issue of broad public import.'"³ According to ESD, this Court should not accept direct review because WTA and the Carriers' "complaints are specific to the

³ ESD's Answer to Statement of Grounds for Direct Review, filed September 3, 2014 in Case No. 90584-3, at p. 1 (quoting RAP 4.2(a)(4)). *See also id.* at p. 5 ("this case does not present 'an issue of broad public import").

taxpayers in this suit," and thus "no issue of broad public import warranting review is present."⁴

WTA and the Carriers sought direct review in order to expedite resolution. By opposing that request and urging that the matter be transferred to the Court of Appeals, and then asking this Court to review that court's decision, ESD seeks to delay and drive up costs. This is another example of the bad-faith tactics that have prompted this lawsuit.

The Court of Appeals' decision correctly holds that there are repercussions for abusive, bad faith actions by a taxing authority.⁵ ESD's desire to avoid any negative consequences for its misconduct is not an issue of public importance. What would be cause for public concern is if the law were as ESD posits, i.e. if administrative agencies could operate without judicial oversight and if the law could provide no relief when they violate taxpayers' rights.

Well-developed law, from this Court and other jurisdictions, holds that the courts will provide remedies for abusive or arbitrary conduct by government officials under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. *See, e.g., Jones v. State*,

⁴ *Id.* at p. 15.

⁵ It is well-established that agencies like ESD must exercise their expansive taxing and auditing authority in *good faith*. *Dep't of Revenue v. March*, 25 Wn. App. 314, 319, 610 P.2d 916 (1979); *United States v. LaSalle Nat'l Bank*, 437 U.S. 298, 313-14, 98 S. Ct. 2357, 57 L. Ed.2d 221 (1978)

170 Wn.2d 338, 242 P.3d 825 (2010) (allowing claims for due process violations and tortious interference where Board of Pharmacy officials allegedly conducted improper investigations resulting in suspension of pharmacist's license); *Tarabochia v. Adkins*, 766 F.3d 1115 (9th Cir. 2014) (reversing dismissal of civil rights claim against Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife agents, alleging that agents targeted plaintiffs for investigation for personal reasons). ESD fails to show any public interest in undermining these principles.

2. <u>The Court of Appeals correctly found that "no remedy at all" is not an adequate remedy.</u>

In holding that the Carriers can maintain a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Court of Appeals relied on established precedent from this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court. ESD attempted to invoke the Tax Injunction Act ("TIA") and the comity doctrine to bar the § 1983 claim. But the Court of Appeals, in a thoughtful, 32-page, unanimous opinion, rested on the well-settled rule that the TIA and comity apply *only* when state law provides an adequate remedy. *See WTA*, 369 P.3d at 182 (citing *National Private Truck Council, Inc. v. Oklahoma Tax Comm'n*, 515 U.S. 582, 589, 592, 115 S. Ct. 2351, 132 L.Ed.2d 509 (1995)).

The Court of Appeals carefully analyzed the complaint and concluded that the Carriers raised some claims which could be remedied in the state administrative process and others for which the state process provides no remedy. *Id.* at 183–84. The court concluded that the § 1983 claim is barred as to those claims for which there is a remedy, but not for those that the administrative process cannot address. *Id.* at 184.

The opinion is firmly rooted in the case law, which holds unsurprisingly—that where state law cannot address a claim's merits, the remedy is not adequate. *See Hillsborough v. Cromwell*, 326 U.S. 620, 66 S.Ct. 445, 90 L.Ed. 358 (1946). In a case cited by ESD, *Carrier Corp. v. Perez*, 677 F.2d 162, 165 (1st Cir. 1982), the First Circuit held that an adequate remedy must include "an opportunity to raise the desired legal objections with the eventual possibility of Supreme Court review of that claim." *Carrier*, 677 F.2d at 165. While finding the remedy adequate in the case before it, the court distinguished *Hillsborough*, in which the procedural criteria were not adequate. The remedy in *Hillsborough* was inadequate because: (1) "the state board of tax appeals could not pass upon constitutional questions"; and (2) the state law in question "apparently would not allow a taxpayer to raise a federal 'equal protection' claim in a suit to lower his own taxes." *Carrier*, 677 F.2d at 166.⁶

Here, the Court of Appeals observed that the administrative process under state law has authority only to correct the amount of the assessment. *WTA*, 369 P.3d at 184. The court noted further that the complaint allegations here involve conduct that violated the taxpayers' rights regardless of whether the assessments were valid. *Id.* Because correction of the assessment amount would not provide any redress for these violations, the court properly concluded that the remedy at state law, as to those claims, is not adequate.

ESD *grossly* mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals' opinion when it claims that "Washington now stands alone in finding a state law remedy inadequate because it does not afford the same type of relief as § 1983."⁷ The Court of Appeals did not base its decision on the lack of § 1983 relief. It based its decision on the fact that the administrative process provides *no* relief for the type of impropriety alleged here, as the Court of Appeals documented. *See WTA*, 192 Wn. App. at 184.

⁶ ESD offers a red herring when it argues, at pp. 10–12 of its petition, that other courts have found APA-type remedies adequate. That such a remedy might have been adequate for some other party's claim in some other context is not material to whether the administrative remedy is adequate for the particular claims raised here.

⁷ Petition for Review at 10-11.

This conclusion is well supported by the case law, both in Washington and around the country. See Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 119 Wn.2d 1, 11, 829 P.2d 765 (1992); Hillsborough, 326 U.S. at 624; Johnson v. City of Seattle, 184 Wn. App. 8, 335 P.3d 1027 (Oct. 13, 2014); Patel v. City of San Bernardino, 310 F.3d 1138 (9th Cir. 2002). In Patel, for example, the city continued to collect a tax pending appellate review of a trial court decision declaring the tax unconstitutional. The Ninth Circuit allowed the taxpayer to pursue a § 1983 claim for damages caused by the knowing imposition of unlawful taxes. Id. at 1142. The court relied on U.S. Supreme Court authority holding that "uncertainty regarding a State's remedy may make it less than 'plain." Id. (quoting Rosewell v. LaSalle Nat. Bank, 450 U.S. 503, 516-17, 101 S. Ct. 1221, 67 L. Ed. 2d 464 (1981)). See also Hibbs v. Winn, 542 U.S. 88, 107-08, 124 S. Ct. 2276, 159 L.Ed.2d 172 (2004) (an adequate remedy is one that is plain, speedy, and efficient). This Court, likewise, has allowed a plaintiff to proceed under § 1983 against a taxing authority that enforced a tax it knew to be invalid. See Sintra, 119 Wn.2d at 24.

More recently, in *Johnson*, the Washington Court of Appeals held that an administrative process that prevents a party from asserting a valid defense violates that party's procedural due process rights. In the underlying case, the hearing examiner refused to consider a homeowner's "legal nonconforming use" defense to a land-use violation because, under the city code, only the Department could make this determination. *Johnson*, 184 Wn. App. at 21. Citing *Sintra*, the Court of Appeals therefore allowed the homeowner to maintain a § 1983 claim against the city. *Id.* at 22. These cases provide ample authority for the Court of Appeals' decision here that there is no adequate remedy in an administrative process that cannot address the merits of a claim.

ESD strains to mischaracterize this straightforward analysis as something controversial. It attempts to fabricate a broad-sweeping rule that the "adequate remedy" analysis is limited entirely to a review of the procedures available. According to ESD, as long as the procedure is adequate, the remedy is as well, *regardless of whether the process can address the claim's merits*—in other words, its ends justify egregiously unconstitutional means.

ESD's argument is absurd on its face. A federal court recently described it as an "extreme position" that is "based on a vast misreading of the case law." *Wal-Mart Puerto Rico, Inc. v. Juan C. Zaragoza-Gomez*,

No. 3:15-CV-03018 (JAF), 2016 WL 1183091, at *37 (D. P.R. Mar. 28, 2016). This argument, the court explained, "might seem plausible at first blush" only by "reading certain excerpts of case law out of context." *Id.* The court concluded that "procedures are sufficient only insofar as they lead to their desired effect." *Id.* (citing *Rosewell*, 450 U.S. 503).⁸

That "extreme position" is the foundation for ESD's petition: an imaginary rule that in analyzing the adequacy of a state's remedy the courts cannot consider whether the remedy allows a claim to be considered on its merits. The Court of Appeals' rejection of this absurd argument does not create an issue of public interest. That decision is consistent with the U.S. Supreme Court's pronouncement that a "broad construction of § 1983 is compelled by the statutory language, which speaks of deprivations of 'any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by

⁸ Consistent with this analysis, *every* case cited by ESD on this point recognized that the "adequate remedy" could at least address, on the merits, the allegation that the plaintiffs' federal rights had been violated. *See, e.g., Francis v. City of Columbus*, 267 Neb. 553, 676 N.W.2d 346, 352 (2004) ("a claim that a special tax assessment violates the federal Constitution can be raised *and adjudicated*" under Nebraska's tax refund statute (emphasis added)); *Gen. Motors Corp. v. City of Linden*, 143 N.J. 336, 566, 671 A.2d 560 (1996) ("New Jersey law provides several opportunities for taxpayers to raise constitutional objections to an added assessment"); *California v. Grace Brethren Church*, 457 U.S. 393, 415–16, 102 S. Ct. 2498, 2511, 73 L. Ed. 2d 93 (1982) (taxpayer could "seek a judicial determination of the constitutionality of the tax," with the state taxing authorities being expected to respect the court's holding in future proceedings if the taxpayer prevails); *Rosewell*, 450 U.S. at 514–15 (respondent had not alleged any procedural defect "that would preclude preservation *and consideration* of her federal rights" (emphasis added)).

the Constitution and laws." *Dennis v. Higgins*, 498 U.S. 439, 443, 111 S.Ct. 865, 112 L.Ed.2d 969 (1991) (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1983). There is no need for this Court to review that determination. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. <u>The Court of Appeals correctly acknowledged WTA's</u> potential associational standing.

Likewise, the Court of Appeals' holding as to associational standing is well grounded in this Court's precedent, as set forth in *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146 Wn.2d 207, 215–16, 45 P.3d 186, *amended on denial of reconsideration*, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). There, this Court held that an association can seek damages on behalf of its members that are "certain, easily ascertainable, and within the knowledge of the defendant." *Id.* Here, the Court of Appeals explained that, at this nascent stage, where the precise remedies sought under § 1983 are not clear from the complaint, it was premature to decide that the remedies do not meet the *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters* standard.

ESD attempts to fabricate an error by pointing to the Court of Appeals' denial of associational standing to assert tortious interference. According to ESD's logic, this result somehow compels the same result as to § 1983. ESD's argument ignores the obvious point that the two types of claims provide different types of remedies. A claim for punitive damages under § 1983, for example, would focus on the reprehensibility of ESD's conduct and its financial condition. *See Morgan v. Woessner*, 997 F.2d 1244, 1256–57 (9th Cir. 1993). Because these two factors are within ESD's knowledge, this type of damage claim can be calculated without extensive participation by WTA's individual members. The Court of Appeals thus correctly held that it was premature to deny WTA associational standing on this claim.⁹ Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

4. <u>The Court of Appeals correctly permitted the Carriers to</u> seek redress for ESD's improper motive and means in interfering with the Carriers' business expectancies.

Finally, the Court of Appeals allowed the Carriers' to proceed with their claim for tortious interference. Again, the court's thorough analysis was grounded in this Court's jurisprudence. The elements for tortious interference are well-settled and permit a plaintiff to seek redress for tortious interference where the defendant interferes with a business expectancy for an improper purpose or by improper means. *WTA*, 369

⁹ Although ESD's standing arguments below were based on the difficulty of calculating damages, it now lists (in a footnote on p. 15) several ways in which member participation might be required to prove liability. But the mere fact that members may need to participate as witnesses is not fatal to associational standing. *See Pugh v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 177 Wn. App. 363, 312 P.3d 665 (2013), *review denied* 180 Wn.2d 1007, 320 P.3d 718 (2014).

P.3d at 185 (citing *Elcon Constr., Inc. v. E. Wash. Univ.*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 168, 273 P.3d 965 (2012)).

ESD offers two arguments in opposition. The first is barred by judicial estoppel. The second improperly asks the courts to adjudge facts on a Rule 12 motion.

a. <u>ESD cannot assert that its means or purpose can be</u> reviewed in the administrative process.

ESD's first argument is based on the Employment Security Act's exclusive-remedy provision, which states that its remedies "for determining the justness or correctness of assessments" are exclusive. RCW 50.32.180. According to ESD, this provides a remedy for tortious interference because any improper purpose or means would be included in a challenge to the "justness" of the assessment.

This argument is remarkable for its brazen conflict with ESD's insistence, throughout years of litigation, that its means and purposes are irrelevant. For example, ESD argued as follows in respondent System-TWT Transport's administrative appeal:

In essence, System-TWT attempts to attack the investigation rather than the assessment, but the purpose of this de novo review is to determine the correctness of the assessment. . . . Courts cannot, and should not, undertake a probe of the mental processes utilized by an administrative officer in performing his or her function of decision. . . . Under RCW 50.32.050, in an appeal from a tax assessment, the appeal tribunal "shall affirm, modify or set aside the notice of assessment." It is the assessment, and not the audit, that is on review here.

Department's Response to Appellant's Hearing Brief upon Stipulated Facts, filed in In the Matter of System-TWT Transport, OAH Dkt.

No. 122014-00336, at 6.¹⁰

Subsequently, ESD's attorney argued at respondent Haney Truck

Line, Inc.'s administrative hearing that the ALJ could not provide a

remedy even for arbitrary and capricious conduct:

MR. PETERSON: I don't think that whether the audit was done in an arbitrary and capricious is really the issue for this tribunal to be deciding. This tribunal is deciding whether the assessment is correct. So not every perceived legal wrong has a remedy.

And the carrier seems to be complaining about the way in which the department conducted its audit. I don't believe that this relates to the correctness of the assessment, based on the reasons described in the

¹⁰ The excerpts cited in this section from ESD's arguments in the administrative process were attached as appendixes to WTA and the Carriers' March 18, 2016 response to ESD's Motion for Reconsideration at the Court of Appeals.

department's briefing and in argument today.

Transcript of Oral Argument on Stipulated Facts before Juliana K. Weber,

ALJ, June 30, 2015, In re Haney Truck Line, Inc., OSH Dkt. No. 122014-

00340, at 91–92 (emphasis added).

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